

Bachelor Thesis

Universal Basic Income: A step towards equality or government's insolvency? The case of Latvia.

Authors:

Simona Alksne

Reinis Frēlihs

Supervisor:

Kārlis Vilerts

April 2019 Riga

COPYRIGHT DECLARATION

Names of the authors in full: Simona Alksne, Reinis Frēlihs

Title of the Thesis: Universal Basic Income: A step towards equality or government's insolvency? The case of Latvia.

We hereby certify that the above-named thesis is entirely the work of the persons named below, and that all materials, sources and data used in the thesis have been duly referenced.

In accordance with Section 1 of the Copyright Law of Latvia, the persons named below are the authors of this thesis.

The authors hereby agree that the Bank of Latvia a may deposit one copy of this thesis. The authors grant the Bank of Latvia the right, without royalty nor limitation, to publish this thesis in whole or in part. We assert our right to be identified as the authors of this thesis whenever it is reproduced in full or in part.

Signed

tene

/Simona Alksne/

/Reinis Frēlihs/

Date

29.05.2019

Abstract

In recent years, there has been little progress in tackling income inequality and poverty across Europe. Alarmingly, Latvia ranks high among the OECD countries in both income inequality and poverty. A situation which in the long run can leave a detrimental effect on the economic growth and social conditions. Furthermore, recent reforms to the taxing and redistributive policies have shown little progress in addressing these issues, which calls for proposals of alternative remedies. In this study, we employ EUROMOD microsimulation model with anonymized microdata from the EU-SILC survey for Latvia to investigate if universal basic income could be a potential remedy. Our main findings suggest that the most effective scenarios in terms of reducing income inequality and poverty are also the most expensive ones. Nevertheless, there are certain properties of UBI calibration that appear to improve its effectiveness without inducing high costs, particularly including pensioners in the recipient list.

Keywords: universal basic income, EUROMOD, income inequality, poverty, redistribution

Table of Contents

1. Introduction
2. Literature review
2.1. Income inequality and poverty: economic costs and potential remedies
2.2. Universal basic income: empirical evidence
2.3. Discussions on implementing UBI in Latvia 11
3. Methodology 12
3.1. EUROMOD and EU-SILC microdata
3.2. Construction of scenarios 12
3.3. Scenario analysis 16
4. Main findings 17
4.1. Baseline scenario
4.2. The effectiveness of UBI
4.3. Fiscal feasibility
5. Discussion
5.1. Effectiveness versus costs of UBI
5.2. Potential long-term implications
5.3. Limitations and assumptions
6. Conclusion
7. List of references
8. Appendices
Appendix A. Gini coefficient in OECD countries (2016)
Appendix B. The rate of poverty in OECD countries (2016)
Appendix C. Effectiveness analysis of UBI (models with fiscal neutrality)

1. Introduction

Previous empirical research highlights the negative effects of high-income inequality and poverty. For example, Aghion, Caroli, and García-Peñalosa (1999) show that greater income inequality and higher poverty leads to lower economic growth. In turn, Thorbecke and Charumilind (2002) find that higher income inequality and poverty is associated with lower educational attainment, higher crime rates, and lower access to healthcare. These negative effects give a reason for governments and international organizations to take action in eradicating poverty and income inequality (Hanna & Olken, 2018). Despite the efforts, the World Inequality Report shows an increasing trend in global income inequality (Alverado, Chancel, Piketty, Saez, & Zucman, 2018). Alarmingly, Latvia ranks high among the OECD countries in both income inequality (8th) and poverty (5th) (see appendices A and B). Furthermore, recent reforms to the taxing and redistributive policies have shown little progress in addressing these issues (European Commission, 2018), which calls for proposals of alternative remedies.

Universal basic income (UBI) has recently gained its popularity on the global stage as a theoretical remedy for fighting inequality and poverty. The concept of UBI implies a lump sum payment by the government to all members of the community, regardless of their age, employment or social status. In fact, some countries have already put the theoretical concept to test. This year, Finland is ending its UBI field experiment, in which the state provided a basic income for 2000 unemployed citizens (Yle News, 2018). Although the success of the experiment is still to be assessed, similar pilot projects have already been proposed in Switzerland and the Netherlands (Laurinavičius & Laurinavičius, 2016).

In the case of Latvia, discussions regarding the potential implementation of UBI has raised highly polarized opinions. However, the arguments on both sides are rarely based on empirical evidence. In fact, to the best of our knowledge, there has been no quantitative research on the potential implications of implementing UBI in the case of Latvia. As the concept is relatively new to the economic debate in Latvia, neither the expected impact on income inequality and poverty nor the attributed costs have yet been assessed. Therefore, we propose the following research questions: **1**) **How would the implementation of UBI affect income inequality and poverty in the case of Latvia**?; **2**) **What are the fiscal costs of such measures**?

The research attempts to fill the gap in the existing literature of UBI, as well as add to the policy debate, by providing a case study for Latvia. The study employs EUROMOD

microsimulation model with anonymized microdata from the EU-SILC survey to investigate if UBI could act as a potential remedy for income inequality and poverty in Latvia. It tests UBI for its effectiveness as well as feasibility from the fiscal policy perspective. The novelty of the work comes with a fact that it looks deeper than theoretical assessments of income redistribution and provides a measurable change in income inequality and poverty in the case of Latvia.

Our quantitative analysis is based on simulated scenarios. To test a large set of different scenarios of UBI we change the existing tax and benefit system. This approach provides simulated outcomes of each scenario encompassing the variables of our interest: changes in income inequality and poverty measures as well as fiscal costs. Scenarios represent different ways how UBI could replace or add to the existing tax and benefit policies. We do this by changing the amount of UBI payments for different age groups, taxation principles of UBI, and choosing whether to abolish or complement the existing social benefits.

Our main findings suggest a rather strong relationship between the effectiveness of UBI in terms of reducing income inequality and poverty and its fiscal costs. Hence, even though the proposed scenarios prove themselves to be effective in tackling income inequality and poverty, they also come with huge budget deficits, which cannot be compensated by changes in the state benefit system alone. Funding a somewhat effective UBI policy, which would bring income inequality in Latvia to the average level of the OECD, takes at least 6% of annual GDP. A budget-neutral policy meanwhile would require a 35% increase in income tax rates, and although proving itself to be no less effective, might lead to other negative economic consequences.

The paper is structured as follows. The first section reviews the existing literature and identifies the economic and social costs that income inequality and poverty impose on a country. The review further analyses the effectiveness of the most conventional methods for fighting income inequality and poverty, such as taxation and social benefits, and introduces UBI as an alternative remedy. Next section gives a detailed explanation of the methodology used in the study and defines the scenarios which later guide the simulation process. The result section presents an analysis of the performed models weighing their effect on income inequality and poverty measures against the fiscal costs. The discussion section explains the significance of the research findings linking them to the literature and the ongoing policy debate. The last section concludes the research and draws a clearer picture of UBI prospects in Latvia as well as the next steps needed to be taken in further research.

2. Literature review

2.1. Income inequality and poverty: economic costs and potential remedies

In 2015, income inequality reached its highest point in OECD countries over the last 30 years (OECD, n.d.a). This is a growing concern for governments due to the negative effects income inequality and poverty exert on the economy, society and political stability (Atkinson, Leventi, Nolan, Sutherland, & Tasseva, 2017). These negative consequences have been highlighted by a large body of literature. For example, Persson and Tabellini (1994) show that in a sample of developed economies over a period from 1830 to 1985 higher income inequality is associated with lower economic growth. Aghion et al. (1999) find several channels through which income inequality affects economic growth. First, it induces greater output volatility, which, if persistent over the years, leads to lower long-term economic growth. Second, it reduces investment opportunities, and third, it leads to lower credit market activity. Additionally, from a social perspective, income inequality is linked to a lower level of happiness in a society, especially in European countries (Alesina, Di Tella, & MacCulloch, 2004).

High rates of poverty have a detrimental effect on society in terms of economic costs. For example, higher risk of poverty is shown to result in worse health conditions (Ngoma & Mayimbo, 2017), lower educational attainment (Ferguson, Bovaird, & Mueller, 2007) and, as a consequence, lower economic growth (Perry, Arias, Lopez, Maloney, & Serven, 2006). Furthermore, poverty might also have an indirect negative effect on the economy's capacity to innovate, since the government faces tradeoffs in terms of budget expenditure allocation between tackling poverty and fostering innovations (Hall & Howell-Moroney, 2012).

Due to the negative effects on the economy, governments across the world have implemented different ways to tackle both income inequality and poverty. These include income tax regulation, social benefit programs and minimum wage regulation. A relatively recent addition to the list of remedies is the UBI.

Previous evidence shows that tax policies and social transfers leave a considerable impact on income inequality (Biswas, Chakraborty, & Hai, 2017). Pisu (2012) compares Gini indices for gross and net income for OECD countries and concludes that during the 2000s taxes and transfers on average reduced the income inequality by 25%. The effect on reducing poverty rates is even higher, marking a 55% reduction (Pisu, 2012). It is important to note that in OECD

countries tax policies only contribute 1/3 of the redistributive impact, while the lion's share is attributed to social transfers. The only exception is the US, where both taxes and social transfers have an equal impact on tackling income inequality (Joumard, Pisu, & Bloch, 2012). Previous evidence also suggests that redistributive properties of a tax system depend on its progressivity. A cross-country analysis of EU-15 countries suggests that countries with lower income inequality have higher tax progressivity (Moene & Wallerstein, 2001). Also, Perotti (1996) shows that tax progressivity leaves a positive effect on income equalization which, in turn, enhances economic growth. Similarly, Cooper, Lutz, & Palumbo (2015) note that progressive taxes have reduced income inequality in the US over a period from 1984 to 2011.

Nevertheless, tax policies which are designed for redistributive purposes might have undesirable side-effects. These include "unemployment trap" which prevails when the unemployment benefits exceed the after-tax income from employment, and unemployed individuals have low incentive to work (Saint-Paul, 1995). Deteriorating work incentives lead to elevated levels of unemployment which, in turn, might have a negative effect on income inequality and poverty rates (both are intensified in times of high unemployment and underemployment; see, Dimick, 2017). Furthermore, the unemployment trap has negative implications on fiscal sustainability (Kay, 1984).

Another way to tackle income inequality and poverty is social benefits.¹ Since social benefits can be attributed to certain groups, they have a direct impact on income inequality and poverty (Llamas, Arrar, & Huesca, 2017). For instance, the Czech Republic has achieved one of the lowest income inequality and poverty rates in Europe due to an effective social benefit system. The effect can be measured by comparing market income Gini coefficient (0.46) with disposable income Gini coefficient (0.247) (Janský, Kalíšková, & Münich, 2016). Urban (2008) suggests that public pensions are the main driver for reducing income inequality.

There have also been more unorthodox methods to reduce income inequality and poverty. For example, in Canada, a field experiment of minimum guaranteed income (mincome) took place from 1974 to 1979 (Simpson, Mason, & Godwin, 2017). Everyone with income that is lower than a threshold set by the state received an additional income transfer. The evidence on the effectiveness of the mincome is, however, inconsistent due to underdeveloped data collection methods at the time (Forget, 2011). Yet, the findings of Monti and Pellizzari (2010) suggest that

¹ In this study terms social benefits and social transfers are used interchangeably.

mincome in Italy would have similar effects as other benefit distribution policies that promote equality and have somewhat lower fiscal costs.

2.2. Universal basic income: empirical evidence

An alternative approach to the standard social benefit system is the universal basic income.² The fundamental difference between UBI and the regular social benefit system is that the latter is conditional and temporary (Groot, 1997). In contrast, UBI provides a safety net for every individual without any precondition (Van Parijs, 2004).

An extensive analysis in assessing potential pros and cons of UBI was conducted by Browne and Immervoll (2018). Using EUROMOD microsimulation model for Finland, France, Italy and United Kingdom they conclude that replacing existing income protection with simple UBI would require a substantial amount of additional tax revenue and that targeted social protection benefits are a more cost-efficient way to obtain a similar reduction in income inequality and poverty. Similarly, Torry (2017) using EUROMOD in the UK indicates that switching from the current tax and means-tested social benefit policy to UBI with the same government budget would make the low-income households significantly worse off. Similar results are obtained by Reed and Lansley (2016) who explore the potential effects of UBI in the UK using different scenarios in terms of UBI calibration and changes in current tax and social benefit systems. Majority of their simulations suggest that the introduction of UBI would not lead to better outcomes than the current system. Additionally, Greenstein (2017) states that in the case of the US an introduction of UBI would not only be unfeasible, but it would also increase inequality and poverty. Thus, we propose the following hypothesis:

H10) If UBI is implemented in Latvia, then it will not have an effect on income inequality and poverty.

H1a) If UBI is implemented in Latvia, then it will increase income inequality and poverty.H1b) If UBI is implemented in Latvia, then it will decrease income inequality and

poverty.

There are, however, some studies that suggest that UBI might yield better results than the existing systems. For example, Stevens and Simpson (2017) described a model that combines UBI with a part of the existing social benefit system in Canada, 90% of which would be covered

² in other literature also called citizens' income, social dividend, basic living stipend, etc.

by the existing budget. Their findings suggest that such a model would reduce poverty by 29% and income inequality by 6.8%. Furthermore, one scenario by Reed and Lansley (2016) suggests that UBI accompanied by higher tax progressivity could potentially decrease income inequality and reduce child poverty. The fiscal costs of such a measure are somewhat high; the government expenditures increase by roughly 0.5% of GDP (Reed & Lansley, 2016). Nevertheless, an experiment in Canada that was supposed to be held for 3 years, starting in 2017, was cut short after a few months from the launch, proving to be fiscally unsustainable (BBC, 2018).

In Finland from 1984 till 2011 around 13 different UBI models have been proposed; however, none of them has proved to be effective and at the same time cost-neutral (Koistinen and Perkiö, 2014). ³ Also, the preliminary results from the most recent experiment in Finland (which completed at the end of 2018) do not show promising results. Although UBI has left a positive impact on health, ability to concentrate and stress tolerance, it has not contributed to tackling unemployment (Kangas, Jauhiainen, Simanainen, & Ylikännö, 2019). What is more, the costs of the experiment for the government amounted to 5000 euros per participant. Thus, the policy so far does not seem appealing to policymakers (Bershidsky, 2019).

Laurinavičius and Laurinavičius (2016) analysed the potential introduction of UBI in Lithuania. Their main findings were that Lithuania's economic situation, in theory, would be welcoming for a small amount of UBI. However, because of already high existing irreplaceable benefits a fully realised UBI would be too costly for the government to implement and it would not have a notable effect on the income inequality. In fact, the implementation of UBI in these circumstances could even leave a negative impact on the income inequality because the state budget and social insurance fund resources are not sufficient enough to provide both UBI, pensions and benefits. Therefore, even if a relatively small amount of UBI would be implemented, it could leave a large part of the society worse off. For the poorest part of the society, a small amount of UBI would not offset the existing benefits. It has been shown that, in the case of a strapped government, the implementation of UBI could even lead to deteriorating effects on income equality and the risk of poverty. In this regard, we will test the second hypothesis:

H20) If UBI is implemented in Latvia, then it will have a neutral effect on the government budget.

³ In depth analysis of successes and failures of all 13 models is available in Koistinen and Perkiö (2014).

H2a) If UBI is implemented in Latvia, then it will have a detrimental effect on the government budget.

H2b) If UBI is implemented in Latvia, then it will have a lucrative effect on the government budget.

Additionally, it seems that the implementation of UBI would release the burden of monitoring each benefit recipient and thus reduce the transaction costs in complex social security systems; however, it might not be the case. It is important to stress that UBI can only be granted to residents either on a national, regional, or local level. Hence, a certain amount of monitoring of the present residents who are eligible to receiving UBI would still take place (De Wispelaere & Stirton, 2013).

2.3. Discussions on implementing UBI in Latvia

From 2007 to 2016 income inequality in Latvia, measured by the Gini coefficient, decreased by 2.7 percentage points. However, it still remains high if compared to other OECD countries (see appendix A). Although labour income has been increasing on average by 8% each year since 2010, the income growth for poorest 10% of the society, mostly pensioners, has been more moderate (OECD, 2018). European Commission (2018) points out that progress in tackling income inequality and poverty has not been substantial and recent reforms to the tax legislation have shown negligible improvement.

This has given background for numerous debates and discussions on implementing UBI in Latvia (e.g. open debates during festival LAMPA 2018, a panel discussion at the Mill 2018). The discussions have revolved around issues of unemployment, unequal income distribution, poverty, the welfare of the society and in some cases also philosophical topics such as "*losing one's identity*" (Satori, 2018). The outcome of these debates has mostly prompted against the implementation of UBI. However, none of the arguments supporting this opinion has been based on any kind of empirical validation (Satori, 2018). Therefore, it is crucial to provide a simulation of the possible outcomes to develop a solid understanding of the problem.

3. Methodology

3.1. EUROMOD and EU-SILC microdata

The research employs the European Union population-based tax-benefit microsimulation model (EUROMOD) to run scenarios on Latvian household data. For more than two decades EUROMOD has been a widely-used tool for measuring effects of new government policies and tax reforms, helping to evaluate their viability and feasibility. Simulations in previous studies range from changing family and housing benefits to changing tax regulation and, more recently, also UBI (Browne & Immervoll, 2018; Torry, 2017).

EUROMOD connects household micro-data from the national European Survey of Income and Living Conditions (EU-SILC) with the national tax code and benefits system to estimate benefit entitlements, tax liabilities and income distribution for a representative sample of the population (Sutherland & Figari, 2013). We use anonymized microdata for Latvia from EU-SILC survey for 2015 which was obtained from the Central Statistics Bureau of Latvia. The dataset is then adjusted to fit the conditions of 2018 by using built-in uprating indices. EU-SILC is nationally representative dataset which contains detailed information on the income, poverty and living conditions of surveyed households (Eurostat, n.d.). The dataset covers both household and individual level data on income, employment status, social benefits, age, marital status, number of children, education level, health assessment, working hours, and other variables. The dataset is composed of 6042 households and 13833 individuals.

3.2. Construction of scenarios

UBI cannot be generalized into one definite form. It depends on the political and economic setting and may vary significantly from country to country. To take this into account, we draw on previous literature (among many other see Browne & Immervoll, 2018; Laurinavičius & Laurinavičius, 2016; Reed & Lansley, 2016) and distinguishes various scenarios for further analysis. The outcomes of these scenarios are then compared to the baseline scenario which corresponds to the policies that were in place in 2018. Different UBI scenarios are summarized in table 1.

Are existing social benefits abolished?	Is UBI taxed?	UBI amount, (EUR)	UBI for old-age pensioners, (EUR)	or old-age ers, (EUR) Scenario #	
		160 (80 for	80	Scenario (1)	
		children)	0	Scenario (2)	
	Not taxed	193 (96.5 for	96.5	Scenario (3)	
		children)	0	Scenario (4)	
		367 (183.5 for	183.5	Scenario (5)	
Not abolished -		children)	0	Scenario (6)	
Not abolished		160 (80 for	80	Scenario (7)	
		children)	0	Scenario (8)	
	Taxed	193 (96.5 for	96.5	Scenario (9)	
		children)	0	Scenario (10)	
		367 (183.5 for	183.5	Scenario (11)	
		children)	0	Scenario (12)	
	Not taxed	160 (80 for	80	Scenario (13)	
		children)	0	Scenario (14)	
		193 (96.5 for	96.5	Scenario (15)	
		children)	0	Scenario (16)	
		367 (183.5 for	183.5	Scenario (17)	
Abalishad -		children)	0	Scenario (18)	
Abolished –	Taxed	160 (80 for	80	Scenario (19)	
		children)	0	Scenario (20)	
		193 (96.5 for	96.5	Scenario (21)	
		children)	0	Scenario (22)	
		367 (183.5 for	183.5	Scenario (23)	
		children)	0	Scenario (24)	

Table 1. Summary	of UBI	microsimulation	scenarios and t	heir pro	perties
------------------	--------	-----------------	-----------------	----------	---------

Note: The table presents 24 different scenarios. The first column indicates if the social benefit system is either abolished or retained. The second column indicates if the UBI is taxable or not. In the third column, scenarios are divided into 3 groups depending on the UBI amount (the respective amount of children UBI being 50% of the general UBI). The fourth column separates scenarios according to the UBI amount paid to old-age-pensioners. All scenarios foresee complete abolishment of tax allowances.

The first step (column 1) is to determine to what extent UBI replaces existing social benefit system. We first consider UBI to be complementary to the existing social benefit system. As an alternative, we consider abolishing all social benefits (with the exemption of old-age pensions). These include all social security benefits like unemployment benefit, sickness benefit, parental benefit and others, which compensate for the loss of working abilities, now covered by UBI. Moreover, following the example of previous studies, most of the state social benefits are abolished as well. Regularly paid benefits such as family or guardian benefits, invalidity benefit and others are dismissed, while one-time benefits, including childbirth, adoption and funeral benefits are retained due to their specificity and sudden additional expenses which UBI cannot cover. Municipal social benefits are mostly maintained due to their one-time occurrence (birth, death and other benefits), except for guaranteed minimum income (GMI) benefit which is abolished.

Next step is to consider the taxation of UBI. In a similar manner to Browne and Immervoll (2018), we consider two alternative scenarios: (a) one of which fully taxes UBI like other income and (b) one which treats UBI as a non-taxable income. Considering the progressive tax system of Latvia, taxing UBI ensures that it is worth less to those who earn more. At the same time, it makes UBI more affordable by providing the state with additional tax revenue.

The next choice is to determine the amount of UBI for a working age (18-63 years) individual. We follow Laurinavičius and Laurinavičius (2016) example and set the amount of UBI equal to Finland's in relative terms. This is achieved by using the average monthly salary and GDP per capita as weights. The calculation of the UBI amounts for Latvia is summarized in table 2.

	GDP per capita, USD	Average gross salary, EUR	UBI per month, EUR	
Finland	45703	3439	560	560
Latvia	15594	983	193	160
Ratio	2.9	3.5	2.9	3.5

Table 2. Calculation of UBI amount for working-age individual

Sources: Authors calculations using data from The World Bank (n.d.), Trading Economics (n.d.), and Central Statistical Bureau (2018a).

Given that in 2017 the average wage and GDP per capita in Finland was approximately 3 times higher than in Latvia (2.9 and 3.5), we assume such differential also for the UBI amount. Taking Finland's UBI of EUR 560 as the base amount (Yle News, 2018), this gives us a range of possible UBI in Latvia from 160 to 193 euros. Both figures are above the upper bound of the GMI level, which amounts to 128 euros per month (Reirs, 2012). However, neither of them reaches close to the government-estimated poverty threshold of 367 euros per month, taken as 60% from the disposable income median (Central Statistical Bureau, 2018b). Considering the

eradication of poverty as one of the targets of UBI policy, we thus propose 367 euros as a third UBI amount used in the study.

As suggested by Browne and Immervoll (2018) we adjust the UBI amount for children to take into account the fact that they are still mostly living with their parents. In all of our scenarios, UBI for children is set to 50% of the adults in correspondence to the children GMI in Riga municipality which is set at 50% of the upper boundary of 128 euros (Rīgas pašvaldība, n.d.).

In the case of old-age pensioners, we acknowledge that they already receive regular pension income and; therefore, we distinguish two scenarios. First, old-age pensioners receive the half amount of full UBI while keeping old-age pensions intact. Second, we exclude them from UBI recipients list completely. We believe completely abolishing old-age pensions and replacing them with UBI would be an unrealistic scenario from an economic and legal perspective.

Furthermore, we follow Browne and Immervoll's (2018) suggestion to abolish tax-free allowances in all proposed scenarios. As argued by Atkinson et al. (2017), the use of tax allowances becomes less convincing when all citizens receive a sufficient amount of income, which does not disappear when a person starts receiving income from employment. At the same time, this change raises incentives for work and helps escape the unemployment trap, opposing the critiques of UBI, by obliterating the fear of losing existing benefits and tax allowances, which often works as a reason for unemployed not to look for a job. The exception to the proposed abolishment is old-age pensioners whose non-taxable minimum income is retained in scenarios where they do not receive UBI.

Last, to grasp the scale of fiscal costs for each scenario, we consider two methods to offset the costs of UBI by changing the tax code. First, we do this by increasing the personal income tax and social insurance contribution rates to the extent that all measures combined are fiscally neutral (with the accuracy of 0.1% from the GDP). The alternative option is to finance UBI with a budget deficit.

3.3. Scenario analysis

We present summary statistics on income inequality, poverty rates and budgetary cost for each scenario. This allows us to evaluate the effectiveness and feasibility of each separate scenario.

The effectiveness of each scenario is defined as the extent to which the policy meets its goals. Therefore, the measures used are quantitative changes in Gini coefficient and S80/S20 ratio, changes in equivalised disposable income by income deciles, as well as changes in the risk of poverty for different age groups. Gini coefficient is chosen as the main measure for inequality due to its international recognition and convenience of comparison internationally. It is "based on the comparison of cumulative proportions of the population against cumulative proportions of income they receive, and it ranges between 0 in the case of perfect equality and 1 in the case of perfect inequality" (OECD, n.d.a). Other measures allow us to distinguish and quantify income groups that are the most affected both positively and negatively by the new policy.⁴

In turn, the feasibility of each scenario relates to the fiscal costs of implementing UBI. We calculate fiscal costs as the expenditure on the UBI payments, minus budgetary savings from the abolished benefits and increased tax revenue. The net cost is then respective to the GDP of Latvia as well as the annual state budget, stimulating the conclusions about the feasibility of such policies. Since EUROMOD is a stationary model, we focus only on the direct effects of UBI, ignoring potential indirect effects it might have e.g. in the form of changes in consumption.

⁴ It must be noted that there are different types of measures for income inequality. Since we are interested in the effects of various redistributive policies, this research scrutinizes disposable income inequality. Therefore, we assume that market income inequality (before transfers and taxes) remains unchanged in contrast to disposable income inequality (after transfers and taxes). The latter more closely represents the actual economic wellbeing of people as well as accounts for taxes and transfers which are directly affected by the implementation of UBI.

4. Main findings

4.1. Baseline scenario

We compare the outcome of each scenario to a baseline which represents the tax and benefits system that was in place in Latvia in 2018.⁵

Figure 1 reflects mean income for different disposable income deciles (1 being the poorest; 10 the richest) and a breakdown on how taxes and benefits contribute to disposable income. On average, mean equivalized market income is EUR 763 a month of which approximately a third is paid in taxes (income taxes and social security contributions reduce original market income by 15% and 11% respectively). This is partially offset by social benefits and pensions that provide additional income (on average 23.5% of the market income). Hence, the disposable income (EUR 720) is somewhat lower than the market income.





Sources: EUROMOD, authors calculations.

Note: each decile represents 10% of the population which falls in the respective income level group, starting from the bottom decile 1. Each decile's mean market income is supplemented with benefits, including public pensions, and reduced by income taxes and social security contributions. Mean income of the whole population is denoted by "All" whereas "Poor" reflects the income of those falling under the poverty threshold (in this model, 367.58 euros a month).

A different image appears when looking at the part of society below the poverty line: their disposable income is significantly larger than market income. While the absolute amount of

⁵ This reflects the most recent tax and benefits calibration available in the EUROMOD.

benefits and public pensions fluctuates only marginally among different income deciles, the proportion of it raises as the income goes down. This shows how the social transfer system helps to reduce income inequality. Our estimates suggest that total market income inequality (before taxes and transfers) measured by the Gini coefficient was 0.486. However, the state tax and benefit systems help to reduce it by roughly 30% (see figure 2), since the Gini coefficient based on disposable income (after taxes and transfers) falls down to 0.343.

The extent of inequality is also presented by the S80/S20 ratio, which shows that mean disposable income of the richest 20% was 6.1 times higher than the one of the lowest 20% of the population. The bottom 20% of citizens contributed 6.7% to the total disposable income, as opposed to the top 20% who contributed 41.1%. Nevertheless, the disparity would have tripled without the current tax-benefit system (figure 3).

Figure 2. Gini index of market and disposable income (2018)



Figure 3. S80/S20 index of market and disposable income (2018)



Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

The risk of poverty, measured as a fraction of population falling under the threshold of poverty, reached 22.4%. In the case of elderly people (over 65 years), the rate is nearly twice as high, reaching 43.4% (see figure 4). Meanwhile, the intensity of poverty, measured as a mean shortfall to the poverty line, is 27%.



Figure 4. Poverty risk in Latvia (2018) by different population groups

Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Note: Poverty rate (or risk) reflects the proportion of the population whose disposable income does not reach over the poverty line which is defined as 60% of the country-specific median disposable household income for one member, in our case, 367.58 euros a month.

Currently, elderly people are the part of society being the most in danger. 57% of all elderly fall in the 3 lowest income deciles (poorest 30% of society), while only 15% of economically active working age adults can associate themselves with these lowest deciles. As portrayed in figure 5, the proportions of each age group swap the roles when it comes to the deciles with the highest incomes.



Figure 5. The share of population groups in each income decile (2018)

Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Note: Each income decile is decomposed into 3 age groups, of which working age (WA) group is then cut further to economically active and inactive. The proportion of WA is increasing starting from decile 3 onwards, while the proportion of elderly is shrinking. The proportion of children fluctuates around 20-30% in each decile.

In 2018, government budget expenditures on social transfers amounted to 2.7 billion euros, of which roughly 75% or 2 billion were paid out in pensions (old-age, survivor, and disability). Also, 109 million were dedicated to unemployed and 428 million to families, leaving 193 million for other benefits (see figure 6).





Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Note: Figure does not plot all expenditures and revenue items, but only those that are directly affected by the UBI scenarios.

On the revenue side of the government's budget, direct taxes and social income contributions generate approximately 5.8 billion euro. The largest source of revenue is employer social contributions (2.6 billion euros) and direct taxes (2 billion euros).

4.2. The effectiveness of UBI

The effects on poverty and inequality of each scenario are summarized in this section (detailed statistics available in table 3).

Our estimates suggest that on average the proposed policies reduce disposable income inequality by 4.9 pp. In fact, inequality, measured by the Gini coefficient, decreases in all the scenarios ranging from 0.247 (Scenario 5) to 0.325 (Scenario 20). Hence, all of the proposed policy scenarios seem to help in tackling income inequality. In scenarios where the old benefit system was completely substituted by UBI (namely, scenarios 13-24), the new policy managed to eradicate on average 38% of market income inequality. In contrast, the old tax and benefit system decreases it only by 29%.

	∆Gini coefficient		ΔMean disp. income, (EUR)		4880/	∆Rate of poverty, (pp)				
	After taxes and pensions	Disposable income	All	Poor	S20	All	Children	WA	Econ. act.	Elderly
Baseline	0.3615	0.3429	720.40	253.97	6.11	22.39	16.74	17.43	10.20	43.42
Scenario (1)	0.0239	-0.0457	137.89	115.96	-1.42	-11.05	-12.32	-10.68	-7.65	-11.0
Scenario (2)	0.0097	-0.0399	133.09	104.18	-1.16	-9.74	-12.35	-10.78	-7.66	-3.94
Scenario (3)	0.0239	-0.0558	178.42	149.58	-1.67	-13.18	-14.26	-12.30	-8.58	-14.91
Scenario (4)	0.0097	-0.0467	168.99	130.08	-1.29	-11.05	-14.21	-12.16	-8.54	-4.52
Scenario (5)	0.0239	-0.0957	392.17	327.01	-2.49	-21.25	-16.74	-16.90	-10.17	-39.24
Scenario (6)	0.0097	-0.0717	358.28	266.67	-1.61	-14.64	-16.56	-16.33	-10.07	-7.49
Scenario (7)	0.0471	-0.0351	98.06	83.42	-1.15	-8.35	-9.93	-8.37	-6.35	-6.73
Scenario (8)	0.0267	-0.0335	98.57	81.21	-1.04	-7.96	-10.01	-8.89	-6.51	-3.07
Scenario (9)	0.0523	-0.0442	130.34	110.26	-1.40	-10.60	-12.17	-10.23	-7.39	-10.23
Scenario (10)	0.0307	-0.0398	127.19	102.0	-1.17	-9.61	-12.26	-10.61	-7.49	-3.92
Scenario (11)	0.0828	-0.0819	300.52	252.14	-2.23	-18.57	-16.60	-16.12	-9.95	-28.18
Scenario (12)	0.0547	-0.0642	277.85	211.31	-1.57	-14.01	-16.50	-15.58	-9.77	-6.69
Scenario (13)	0.0325	-0.0331	79.53	84.04	-1.16	-7.69	-6.70	-7.46	-5.77	-9.37
Scenario (14)	0.0198	-0.0263	72.10	69.70	-0.88	-6.22	-6.66	-7.45	-5.67	-1.92
Scenario (15)	0.0325	-0.0449	120.03	117.53	-1.48	-10.27	-8.96	-9.64	-7.16	-13.50
Scenario (16)	0.0198	-0.0347	107.97	95.47	-1.06	-7.84	-8.72	-9.23	-6.96	-2.65
Scenario (17)	0.0325	-0.0903	333.78	294.92	-2.45	-20.82	-16.68	-16.32	-10.14	-38.96
Scenario (18)	0.0198	-0.0651	297.24	232.01	-1.56	-14.18	-16.53	-15.71	-10.04	-7.12
Scenario (19)	0.0568	-0.0208	39.78	51.72	-0.79	-3.97	-1.68	-4.39	-3.49	-4.88
Scenario (20)	0.0388	-0.0176	37.12	45.57	-0.64	-3.25	-1.61	-4.56	-3.55	-0.71
Scenario (21)	0.0622	-0.0314	72.02	78.37	-1.11	-7.12	-6.07	-6.95	-5.45	-8.66
Scenario (22)	0.0431	-0.0254	65.67	66.09	-0.85	-5.84	-5.95	-7.10	-5.39	-1.77
Scenario (23)	0.0942	-0.0747	242.17	220.05	-2.16	-17.75	-15.38	-15.27	-9.78	-27.80
Scenario (24)	0.0688	-0.0554	216.29	175.17	-1.45	-12.87	-15.09	-14.46	-9.58	-5.74

 Table 3. Effects of UBI scenarios on inequality and poverty (UBI reform 2018)

Sources: EUROMOD, table made by the authors.

Considering the stand-alone effect of the social benefit system (without pensions) by comparing Gini coefficient of personal income after pensions, social contributions and taxes to the one of disposable income, the highest magnitude of inequality reduction is shown by Scenario 23 (41%), while the lowest by Scenario 14 (17%). Thus, the new social benefit system proves itself to be more effective than the previous one which was able to reduce inequality only by 5%.

The amount of UBI supposedly is the main contributor to the reduction of Gini; the higher the amount, the more inequality is reduced. In cases when UBI is set at 367 monthly euros, the Gini coefficient is below 0.3 with no exception (scenarios 5, 6, 11, 12, 17, 18, 23, 24). Moreover, the effect is stronger when also elderly people receive UBI (scenarios 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 13, 15, 17, 19, 21, 23). In latter, an additional euro added to the monthly UBI amount received per person on average decreases inequality by 0.027 pp. In comparison, scenarios where elderly people receive 0 yield 0.018 pp effect per additional euro. However, the real effect of entitling elderly people to UBI is rather ambiguous, with different other policy premises the effect may

vary from 0.16 pp to 2.52 pp decrease in Gini coefficient. The effect of this entitlement is stronger when benefits are abolished and UBI is not taxed.

Regarding the remaining policies, we also gauge the stand-alone effect of benefit abolishment and UBI taxation by comparing similar scenarios with and without benefit abolishment or UBI taxation. Abolishing the existing benefit system raises income inequality by 1.12 pp on average with a range of 0.54 pp (scenarios 17 versus 5) to 1.59 pp (scenarios 20 versus 8). A similar effect of 1.05 pp increase on average is also yielded by the introduction of UBI taxation with a bit tighter range from 0.64 pp (scenarios 8 versus 2) to 1.57 pp (scenarios 23 versus 17). The strongest effects of taxation occur in scenarios when UBI is given to everyone marking a 1.29 pp increase.

Next, in figure 7 we break down inequality analysis to income deciles. Confirming the claims of early model adaptors Van Parijs (1992) and Atkinson et al. (2017), UBI in our model mostly addresses the poorest part of society, especially income decile 1 whose mean disposable income on average is almost doubled (91% increase compared to baseline scenario). Despite the fact that disposable income in absolute terms increased the most for deciles 6-8, the poorest part of the population is still winners in relative terms, which is the main contributor to the reduction of income inequality. The percentage increase of disposable income, nevertheless, drops by more than half already for decile 2 and keeps gradually decreasing until 9% for the richest 10% of the population.





Sources: EUROMOD, authors calculations.

In scenarios 5 and 17, the mean disposable income for the lowest deciles increased the most, by 2.3 and 2.2 times respectively. Only 2 out of 24 scenarios (19 and 20) contained losers in decile 10; the mean income of this decile decreased by 0.35% and 0.34% respectively. The closure of the income gap for poor and rich is also indicated by the S80/S20 ratio which varies from 3.6 to 5.5 in different scenarios (in all cases lower than the baseline scenario).

Our simulations suggest that poverty on average is reduced by half, down to 11.2%. The same scenarios which turned out to be most effective in reducing income inequality are also the best performers in terms of tackling poverty. The lowest level of poverty 1.1% is yielded by Scenario 5 while the highest level of 19.1% is marked by Scenario 20. A crucial part of the reducing effect comes from elderly people who are significantly better off (see figure 8). However, the outcomes for the elderly are rather polarized. Difference between poverty rates of elderly in scenarios where the elderly are entitled to UBI and not entitled can reach as much as 31.8 pp (scenarios 17 versus 18). Disparities though become less significant with a smaller amount of UBI. Even though other age groups are somewhat immune to the entitlement of the elderly to UBI, they are still affected by the amount of UBI. Each additional euro to the monthly UBI amount on average has a 0.051 pp effect on total poverty rate reduction but the impact grows larger when the benefit system is abolished and UBI is taxed.





Sources: EUROMOD, authors calculations.

Note: Poverty rate or risk of poverty reflects the proportion of the population whose disposable income does not reach over the poverty line which is defined as 60% of the country-specific median disposable household income for one member, in our case, 367.58 euros a month.

In scenarios in which the existing state benefit system is abolished, the rate of poverty on average increases by 2.68 pp with a range of 0.43 pp (Scenario 17) to 4.71 pp (Scenario 20), compared to the ones where it is retained (scenarios 5 and 8 respectively). The age group affected the most by benefit abolishment are children, presumably due to the loss of family and education benefits, equivalised to each member of a household. Children also feel the effect of UBI taxation more than working-age class. Whereas, if UBI is given to the elderly, the latter becomes the most sensitive group to taxation. In total, taxes on UBI increase poverty rate by 2.34 pp with a range of 0.63 pp (Scenario 12) to 3.71 pp (Scenario 19), compared to scenarios without taxes on UBI (6 and 13 respectively).

Despite the age-related differences, on average across all scenarios, poverty would be reduced by around 11 pp for all age groups, except for economically active working age class (7.6 pp reduction). It must be noted that, in 4 scenarios (5, 11, 17, and 23), poverty rate would be pushed below the 5% level. These scenarios envisage a relatively high amount of UBI payment (183.5 and 367 euros) and do not exclude pensioners from the recipient list.

4.3. Fiscal feasibility

Fiscal costs of each scenario (measured as a difference between additional government expenditure and revenue) are summarized in figure 9. In all scenarios, the introduction of UBI increases government social expenditure at least by 50%. In fact, the fiscal costs of the most expensive scenarios (which feature relatively high UBI amounts) exceed the direct tax and social security contribution revenue (scenarios 5, 6, 11, 13, 17, 19). As a percentage of GDP, the costs range from 2% (Scenario 20) to 21% (Scenario 5) (see table 4 for detailed information).



Figure 9. Fiscal costs of 24 UBI models

Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Considering fiscal costs, most feasible scenarios are the ones in which current social benefits are abolished and the UBI amount is low (and taxed). The additional funding needed for these scenarios would amount to approximately 600 mil. euros, 2% of GDP (scenarios 19 and 20) or 1000 mil. euros, 3.5% of GDP (scenarios 21 and 22). The most effective scenarios meanwhile would require funding amounting to 20% of GDP (scenarios 5 and 6). In comparison, the planned costs of the heatedly-discussed 2018 tax reform in Latvia only amounted to 2.2% GDP (Dārziņa, 2017).

To clearly show the overly large extent of UBI reform, we consider a compensatory measure in form of a tax increase which would be required to finance the implementation of UBI for each scenario. We do this by proportionally raising the tax rates for employee and self-employed social insurance contributions, solidarity tax, and all three levels of progressive tax rates. Pensioners are given an extra tax burden only in scenarios when they receive UBI to ensure fair income distribution. For the fiscal costs not to exceed 0.1% of GDP or 28 mil. euros, the respective increases in tax rates range from 14% for scenario 19 to 147% for scenario 5 (see table 4). Tax increase also moderates the effect of each scenario on income inequality and poverty, which we are obliged to take into account. Even though the new policy shows positive results on both measures due to the retention of its progressivity, we consider such an extreme tax increase unrealistic. Nevertheless, effectiveness analysis of the scenarios after the compensatory measures can be found in Appendix C.

Next, we combine the two dimensions, effectiveness and feasibility by plotting the fiscal costs of each remaining scenario against changes in (a) Gini coefficient (Figure 10), (b) S80/S20 index (Figure 11), and (c) poverty rate (Figure 12). The positioning of scenarios confirms that the more effective scenario is in eradicating inequality and poverty, the greater are its fiscal costs. Nevertheless, the graphs are useful to evaluate the relative attractiveness of each scenario, comparing it to other scenarios with similar effectiveness or similar fiscal costs.

Scenario, nr	Additional funding needed, (mil. EUR)	Additional funding needed, (% of GDP)	Tax increase needed, (%)
Baseline scenario	0	0	0
Scenario (1)	2,074.51	7.4	51
Scenario (2)	1,981.83	7.0	54
Scenario (3)	2,689.89	9.5	67
Scenario (4)	2,514.01	8.9	69
Scenario (5)	5,935.44	21.0	147
Scenario (6)	5,320.08	18.9	145
Scenario (7)	1,469.98	5.2	32
Scenario (8)	1,471.34	5.2	35
Scenario (9)	1,959.99	7.0	41
Scenario (10)	1,895.68	6.7	44
Scenario (11)	4,543.87	16.1	84
Scenario (12)	4,128.86	14.6	85
Scenario (13)	1,253.83	4.4	31
Scenario (14)	1,118.94	4.0	31
Scenario (15)	1,868.49	6.6	47
Scenario (16)	1,650.40	5.9	45
Scenario (17)	5,113.82	18.1	129
Scenario (18)	4,456.25	15.8	122
Scenario (19)	650.59	2.3	14
Scenario (20)	601.12	2.1	15
Scenario (21)	1,139.80	4.0	24
Scenario (22)	1,024.06	3.6	24
Scenario (23)	3,723.00	13.2	69
Scenario (24)	3.256.41	11.5	68

 Table 4. Fiscal costs of each UBI scenario and the respective hike in tax rates needed to

 offset them

Sources: EUROMOD modelling system's default summary statistics, table made by the authors.



Figure 10. Feasibility and effectiveness of each UBI scenario using Gini index

Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Note: Each dot on the plot represents a scenario. Fiscal costs are measured as a difference between the increase in government expenditure and revenue. Change in Gini index is measured as a decrease in the index in percentage points.



Figure 11. Feasibility and effectiveness of each UBI scenario using S80/S20 index

Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Note: Each dot on the plot represents a scenario. Fiscal costs are measured as a difference between the increase in government expenditure and revenue. Change in the S80/S20 index is measured as the absolute decrease in index.



Figure 12. Feasibility and effectiveness of each UBI scenario using poverty rate

Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Note: Each dot on the plot represents a scenario. Fiscal costs are measured as a difference between the increase in government expenditure and revenue. Change in the poverty rate is measured as a decrease in the index in percentage points. Poverty rate or risk of poverty reflects the proportion of the population whose disposable income does not reach over the poverty line which is defined as 60% of the country-specific median disposable household income for one member, in our case, 367.58 euros a month.

Scenario pairs like 1 and 2, 3 and 4 (and so on) have similar UBI calibrations, the only difference being pensioners' eligibility to UBI. All 3 diagrams show that entitling pensioners to UBI have a significant improvement in inequality and poverty while the marginal cost of this operation is negligible compared to the extent it increases effectiveness. In a different manner, abolishing benefits and taxing UBI help to significantly drive the fiscal costs down, while maintaining a relatively high positive impact on income inequality and poverty reduction. Out of these two, benefit abolishment has a higher effect on cost reduction when UBI amount is lower, while taxation of UBI takes over the leading position when the amount is the highest.

5. Discussion

5.1. Effectiveness versus costs of UBI

Taking into account the effectiveness and fiscal feasibility of the 24 scenarios analysed, we note that the most effective scenarios in terms of reducing income inequality and poverty are also the most expensive ones. Nevertheless, there are certain properties of the UBI calibration that appear to improve its effectiveness without inducing higher costs. That being, scenarios where UBI is given to old-age pensioners are more effective and less expensive than scenarios where pensioners are disregarded.

Most recent available OECD data for 2016 suggests that Latvia significantly lags behind other OECD countries in terms of income inequality (OECD, n.d.a) and poverty (OECD, n.d.b). We consider the relative gap to OECD average to be a benchmark for evaluating our UBI scenarios. Overall, with exception of only 4 scenarios (14, 19, 20, 22), all scenarios meet the target (improvement by 9%) in terms disposable income Gini coefficient (OECD, n.d.a). As for poverty, the rate of poverty for the whole population required an improvement of 26.79% to be at the same level as the other OECD countries (OECD, n.d.b). In this case, only 3 scenarios (19, 20, 22) do not meet the target.

Additionally, there are 7 scenarios (3, 13, 15, 17, 19, 21, and 23) that achieve a certain level of effectiveness with less costs than others. Furthermore, some properties can be distinguished from these scenarios. Firstly, all of the scenarios include UBI for pensioners which notably improves the effectiveness. Secondly, 6 out of 7 abolish the existing social benefit system, a property which significantly reduces the fiscal costs. Thirdly, 4 out of 7 do not tax UBI, which somewhat reduces the government tax revenue, but at the same time improves the effectiveness. Furthermore, 2 out of 7 scenarios foresee UBI amount of 367 euros, hence inflating the overall fiscal costs to somewhat unrealistic amounts (13%-18% of GDP). Thus, from these 7 scenarios, 4 are selected (3, 13, 15 and 21) that meet the targets and do not exceedingly inflate the costs.

The disposable income Gini coefficient improvement comparing to the baseline for the selected 4 scenarios ranges from 9.2% to 16.3% (respective Gini coefficients 0.3115 and 0.2870), while the rate of poverty is improved by 31.8%-58.9% (respective poverty rates 0.15 and 0.09). The additional funding needed for these scenarios ranges from 1140 mil. euros to

2690 mil. euros, which is 17%-46% of the government revenues from direct taxes and social contributions, or 4%-10% of the GDP in 2018.

The results of our simulations allow us to accept H1b stating that "*if UBI is implemented in Latvia, then it will decrease income inequality and poverty*". In most of the scenarios, significant improvements in income inequality and poverty can be noted. Furthermore, this allows Latvia to improve its relative position among OECD peers. Moreover, all of our scenarios showed a positive effect on income inequality and poverty and left the low-income households better off. This finding has not always been evident in studies for other EU countries (Reed & Lansley, 2016). Furthermore, in contradiction with Laurinavičius and Laurinavičius (2016) point, our estimates suggest that a key element in most effective scenarios is the abolishment of the existing social benefit system.

In terms of the government budget, the results suggest that H2a stating that "*if UBI is implemented in Latvia, then it will have a detrimental effect on the government budget*" is accepted. Our analysis shows that an effective UBI policy would require additional funding amounting to at least 6% of GDP, which translates into a tax increase of at least 35%. Moreover, even the most economical scenario would require additional funding around 2% of GDP, that would result in a tax increase of 15%. Given the rigidity of fiscal framework in the EU and limited fiscal space available for the government of Latvia, the measure of such magnitude does not seem realistic. This is in line with the findings from Finland, France, Italy and the UK (Browne & Immervoll, 2018), the US (Greenstein, 2017), Finland (Kostinen & Perikö, 2014) and Lithuania (Laurinavičius & Laurinavičius, 2016) stating that an implementation of effective UBI requires a substantial amount of additional tax revenue.

5.2. Potential long-term implications

Our estimates suggest that in the case of Latvia UBI might have a beneficial effect on long-term growth. This stems from findings of a seminal study by Persson and Tabellini (1994) who showed that lower levels of income inequality and poverty lead to higher potential growth (see also Perry et al., 2006). Furthermore, due to its equality enhancing effect UBI might lead to other benefits as well, such as: increase in investment opportunities, higher credit market activity (Aghion et al., 1999; Hall, & Howell-Moroney, 2012), higher educational attainment (Ferguson

et al., 2007), improved health conditions (Ngoma & Mayimbo, 2017), increased level of happiness (Alesina et al., 2004) and improved overall wellbeing (Kangas et al., 2019).

5.3. Limitations and assumptions

The main limitation of the research is the stationary nature of the model. The research does not take into consideration second-round effects: neither in the form of effects on consumption nor on the potential behavioural change of the working-age population. The implementation of UBI might affect the incentives to work, which should be estimated by more extensive quantitative and qualitative research. Nevertheless, we do not deviate from most of the existing research and limit our study to the direct effects which implementation of the UBI would have on disposable income.

Another drawback related to the stationarity of the model is that we are not able to predict the long-term impact of the UBI policy. One might argue that macroeconomic impact should also be taken into consideration as the third aspect for the evaluation of UBI model. We try to mitigate this shortfall by looking at previous studies that investigated the relationship between income inequality, poverty and long-term growth.

The measurement of income inequality might also lead to some drawbacks. For instance, the Gini coefficient fails to encounter an absolute increase in income. Accordingly, even if the overall level of income increased for all parts of society and the level of poverty declined, the income inequality index could still increase (Human Sciences Research Council, 2014). To overcome this issue, we use a set of alternative measures, such as, absolute and relative changes in disposable income by income deciles and S80/S20 index.

6. Conclusion

Compared to its OECD peers, Latvia has relatively high levels of income inequality and poverty. Conventional methods have shown limited success in tackling the issue, thus giving space for policy debate focusing on alternative solutions. In this study, we analyse the effectiveness and feasibility of one of them: universal basic income (UBI). We employ EUROMOD microsimulation model with anonymized microdata from the EU-SILC survey to investigate if UBI could act as a potential remedy for income inequality and poverty in Latvia. This is done by constructing multiple scenarios that represent different ways how UBI could replace the existing tax and benefit policies.

Our main findings show that in all of the scenarios introduction of UBI would indeed reduce income inequality and poverty, bringing Latvia to at least the average level of the OECD countries. However, the costs of an effective UBI implementation are rather high ranging from 6% to 21% of GDP. Several features that are common for the majority of the most effective scenarios stand out. Firstly, including pensioners in the UBI recipients list seem to significantly improve the reduction of income inequality and poverty. Secondly, abolishment of the existing social benefit system helps to drive the fiscal costs down without seriously damaging the effectiveness of UBI policies.

Despite the success of UBI in reducing income inequality and poverty, the fiscal costs restrain us from considering its implementation. Given the rigidity of fiscal framework in the EU and limited fiscal space available for the government of Latvia, a measure of such magnitude is rather unrealistic. Furthermore, we do not consider alternative remedies for fighting inequality and poverty such as higher means-tested benefits, which could not only be cheaper but also more effective.

Nevertheless, we believe that our analysis is a valuable contribution to the ongoing debate about the viability of UBI in Latvia. The paper presents a solid ground for discussions about different components of UBI policy and how they affect important inequality and poverty measures as well as fiscal costs, which supplemented by a more extensive research on behavioural effects of UBI on work incentives and social wellbeing would present a truly profound image of UBI from all its social and economic aspects.

7. List of references

- Aghion, P., Caroli E., & García-Peñalosa, C. (1999, December). Inequality and Economic growth: The Perspective of the New Growth Theories. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 37(4), 1615–1660. Retrieved from http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:12502063
- Alesina, A., Di Tella, R., & MacCulloch, R. (2004). Inequality and happiness: are Europeans and Americans different? *Journal of Public Economics*, 88, 2009-2042. Retrieved from https://www.nber.org/papers/w8198.pdf
- Alverado, F., Chancel, L., Piketty, T., Saez, E., & Zucman, G. (2018). *World Inequality Report* 2018. [Executive Summary]. Retrieved from

https://wir2018.wid.world/files/download/wir2018-summary-english.pdf

- Atkinson, A. B., Leventi, C., Nolan, B., Sutherland, H., & Tasseva, I. (2017). Reducing poverty and inequality through tax-benefit reform and the minimum wage: the UK as a casestudy. *The Journal of Economic Inequality*, 15(4), 303-323. doi:10.1007/s10888-017-9365-7
- BBC. (2018, August 1). *Canada's Ontario government cuts basic income project short*. Retrieved from https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-45023510
- Bershidsky, L. (2019, February 9). In Finland, Money Can Buy You Happiness. *Bloomberg*. Retrieved from https://www.bloomberg.com/opinion/articles/2019-02-09/universal-basicincome-in-finland-money-can-buy-you-happiness
- Biswas, S., Chakraborty, I., & Hai, R. (2017, May). Income Inequality, Tax Policy, and Economic Growth. *The Economic Journal*, *127*, 688–727. doi:10.1111/ecoj.12485
- Browne, J., & Immervoll, H. (2018, March). *Mechanics of replacing benefit systems with a basic income: comparative results from a microsimulation approach*. Retrieved from https://www.euromod.ac.uk/sites/default/files/working-papers/em8-18.pdf
- Central Statistical Bureau. (2018a, November 29). Average monthly wages and salaries of employees by month. Retrieved February 1, 2019, from https://data1.csb.gov.lv/pxweb/en/sociala/sociala_dsamaksa_isterm/DS010m.px/table/t ableViewLayout1/?rxid=fd036f34-3b2d-4614-b5fc-16def4812a6b
- Central Statistical Bureau. (2018b, January 18). 22.1 % of Latvia population at risk of poverty. Retrieved January 25, 2019, from https://www.csb.gov.lv/en/statistics/statistics-bytheme/social-conditions/poverty/search-in-theme/2372-monetary-poverty-and-incomeinequality
- Cooper, D. H., Lutz, Bf. F., & Palumbo, M. G. (2015, December). The Role of Taxes in Mitigating Income Inequality Across the U.S. States. *National Tax Journal*, 68(4), 943-974. doi:10.17310/ntj.2015.4.03
- Dārziņa, L. (2017, November 23). *Pieņemts nodokļu reformas budžets*. Retrieved from https://lvportals.lv/skaidrojumi/291559-pienemts-nodoklu-reformas-budzets-2017
- De Wispelaere, J., & Stirton, L. (2013, December). The Politics of Unconditional Basic Income: Bringing Bureaucracy Back In. *Political Studies*, *61*(4), 915-932. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9248.2012.01004.x
- Dimick, M. (2017). Better Than Basic Income? Liberty, Equality, and the Regulation of Working Time. *Indiana Law Review*, 50, 472-515. Retrieved from https://mckinneylaw.iu.edu/ilr/pdf/vol50p473.pdf

- European Commission. (2018, October 19). *The Effect of Taxes & Benefits Reforms on Poverty & Inequality in Latvia*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/economy-finance/effect-taxes-and-benefits-reforms-poverty-and-inequality-latvia_en
- Eurostat. (n.d.). *European Union Statistics on Income and Living Conditions (EU-SILC)*. Retrieved November 4, 2018, from https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/microdata/european-union-statistics-on-income-andliving-conditions
- Ferguson, H., Bovaird, S., & Mueller, M. (2007). The impact of poverty on educational outcomes for children. *Paediatrics & child health*, 12(8), 701-6. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2528798/
- Forget, E. L. (2011). The Town with No Poverty: The Health Effects of a Canadian Guaranteed Annual Income Field Experiment. *Canadian Public Policy*. 37(3), 283-207. doi:10.3138/cpp.37.3.283
- Greenstein, B. (2017, September 18). Commentary: Universal Basic Income May Sound Attractive But, If It Occurred, Would Likelier Increase Poverty Than Reduce It. *Center on Budget and Policy Priorities*. Retrieved from https://www.cbpp.org/poverty-andopportunity/commentary-universal-basic-income-may-sound-attractive-but-if-it-occurred
- Groot, L. F. M. (1997, July). An Alternative Route to a Basic Income: The Transition from Conditional to Unconditional Social Security. *De Economist*, *145*(2). Retrieved from http://web.b.ebscohost.com/ehost/detail/detail?vid=4&sid=d20a453e-2f24-4b62-a144-4ef82bd52bf0%40pdc-v-

sessmgr03&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZQ%3d%3d#AN=132781&db=bth

- Hall, J. L., & Howell-Moroney, M. E. (2012, June). Poverty, Innovation Capacity, and State Economic Development in the Knowledge Economy: Evidence from the U.S. *Growth* and Change, 43(2), 228–251. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2257.2012.00584.x
- Hanna, R., & Olken, B. A. (2018, September). Universal Basic Incomes versus Targeted Transfers: Anti-Poverty Programs in Developing Countries. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 32(4), 201-226. doi:10.1257/jep.32.4.201
- Human Sciences Research Council. (2014). *Income inequality and limitations of the Gini index: the case of South Africa*. Retrieved January 23, 2019, from http://www.hsrc.ac.za/en/review/hsrc-review-november-2014/limitations-of-Gini-index
- Janský, P., Kalíšková, K., & Münich, D. (2016). Does the Czech Tax and Benefit System Contribute to One of Europe's Lowest Levels of Relative Income Poverty and Inequality? *Eastern European Economics*, 54, 191-207. doi:10.1080/00128775.2016.1149035
- Joumard, I., Pisu, M., & Bloch, D. (2012). Tackling income inequality: The role of taxes and transfers. *OECD Journal: Economic Studies*. doi:10.1787/eco_studies-2012-5k95xd6l65lt
- Kangas, O., Jauhiainen, S., Simanainen, M., & Ylikännö, M. (2019, February 8). The basic income experiment 2017–2018 in Finland. [Preliminary results]. *Ministry of Social Affairs and Health*, 1-34. Retrieved from http://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/161361/Report_The%20Basic% 20Income%20Experiment%2020172018%20in%20Finland.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed =y
- Kay, J. (1984, February). The Effect of Increasing Tax Thresholds on the Poverty and Unemployment Traps. *Fiscal Studies*, 5(1), 32-34. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1111/%28ISSN%291475-5890/issues

- Koistinen, P., & Perkiö, J. (2014). Good and bad times of social innovations: the case of Universal basic income in Finland. *Basic Income Studies*, 9(1-2), 25-57. doi:10.1515/bis-2014-0009
- Laurinavičius, A., & Laurinavičius, A. (2016, April 18). The Concept of Basic Income: Global Experience and Implementation Possibilities in Lithuania. *Business Management and Education*, 14(1), 50-63. doi:10.3846/bme.2016.306
- Llamas, L., Araar, A., & Huesca, L. (2017). Income redistribution and inequality in the Mexican tax-benefit system. *Cuadernos de Economía*, *36*(72), 301-325. doi: 10.15446/cuad.
- LSM. (2018, December 14). *Bank of Latvia ups 2019 GDP growth forecast to 3.5%*. Retrieved from https://eng.lsm.lv/article/economy/economy/bank-of-latvia-ups-2019-gdp-growth-forecast-to-35.a303034/
- Moene, K., & Wallerstein, M. (2001). Inequality, Social Insurance and Redistribution. *American Political Review*, 95(4), 859-874. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/3117718
- Monti, P., & Pellizzari, M. (2010, April). Implementing a Guaranteed Minimum Income in Italy: An Empirical Analysis of Costs and Political Feasibility. *Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia*, 69(1), 67-99. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/41955009
- Ngoma, C., & Mayimbo, S. (2017) The Negative Impact of Poverty on the Health of Women and Children. *Ann Med Health Sci Res*, 7, 442-446. Retrieved from https://www.amhsr.org/articles/the-negative-impact-of-poverty-on-the-health-ofwomenand-children-4022.html
- OECD. (n.d.a). *Income inequality*. Retrieved February 1, 2019, from https://data.oecd.org/inequality/income-inequality.htm
- OECD. (n.d.b). *Poverty rate*. Retrieved February 1, 2019, from https://data.oecd.org/inequality/poverty-rate.htm#indicator-chart
- OECD. (2018, June 15). *Key indicators on income distribution and poverty*. [Data set]. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/social/income-distribution-database.htm
- Perotti R. (1996). Growth, Income Distribution, and Democracy: What the Data Say? *Journal of Economic Growth*, 1, 149-187. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/40215914
- Perry, G. E., Arias, O. S., Lopez, J. H., Maloney, W. F., & Serven, L. (2006). Poverty reduction and growth: virtuous and vicious circles. *World Bank Latin American and Caribbean Studies*, 103-127. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Persson, T., & Tabellini G. (1994, June). Is Inequality Harmful for Growth? *American Economic Association*, 84(3), 600-621. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/2118070
- Pisu, M. (2012). Less Income Inequality and More Growth Are They Compatible? Part 5. Poverty in the OECD. OECD Economics Department Working Paper, 928. doi:10.1787/5k9h28tlt0bs-en
- Reed, H., & Lansley, S. (2016, May). Universal Basic Income: An idea whose time has come? *Compass.* Retrieved from http://www.compassonline.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/05/UniversalBasicIncomeByCompass-Spreads.pdf
- Reirs, J. (2012). *Grozījumi Ministru kabineta 2012.gada 18. decembra noteikumos Nr. 913* "*Noteikumi par garantēto minimālo ienākumu līmeni*". Retrieved from http://tap.mk.gov.lv/doc/2017_12/LManot_071117_GMI.2480.docx
- Rīgas pašvaldība. (n.d.). *Pabalsts garantētā minimālā ienākuma (GMI) līmeņa nodrošināšanai.* Retrieved February 2, 2019, from https://www.eriga.lv/ServiceCards/Default.aspx?cardExternalId=RD000221AJ0015

Saint-Paul, G. (1995, May). The High Unemployment Trap. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 110(2), 527-550. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/qje/issue

- Satori. (2018, May 28). Universālais pamatienākums Latvijā. Komentārs par diskusiju. Retrieved from https://www.satori.lv/article/universalais-pamatienakums-latvijakomentars-par-diskusiju
- Simpson, W., Mason, G., & Godwin, R. (2017, March). The Manitoba Basic Annual Income Experiment: Lessons Learned 40 Years Later. *Canadian Public Policy*, 85-104. doi:10.3138/cpp.2016-082.
- State Revenue Service of the Republic of Latvia. (2019, January 8). *Personal Income Tax Rates*. Retrieved from https://www.vid.gov.lv/lv/iedzivotaju-ienakuma-nodokla-likmes.
- Stevens H., & Simpson, W. (2017, June). Toward a National Universal Guaranteed Basic Income. *Canadian Public Policy*, 43(2), 120-139. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/90010466
- Sutherland, H., & Figari, F. (2013). EUROMOD: the European Union tax-benefit microsimulation model. *International Journal of Microsimulation*, 6(1), 4-26. Retrieved from https://www.microsimulation.org/IJM/V6_1/2_IJM_6_1_Sutherland_Figari.pdf
- The World Bank. (n.d.). *GDP per capita (current US\$)*. Retrieved February 1, 2019, from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locations=FI-LV
- Thorbecke, E., & Charumilind C. (April 22, 2002). Economic Inequality and Its Socioeconomic Impact. *World Development*, *30*(9), 1477-1484. doi:10.1016/S0305-750X(02)00052-9
- Torry, M. (2017). A variety of indicators evaluated for two implementation methods for a Citizen's Basic Income. EUROMOD Working Paper Series, EM 12/17, 1-27. Retrieved from https://www.iser.essex.ac.uk/research/publications/working-papers/euromod/em12-17
- Trading Economics. (n.d.). *Finland Average Monthly Earnings*. Retrieved February 1, 2019, from https://tradingeconomics.com/finland/wages
- Urban, I. (2008). Income Redistribution in Croatia: The Role of Individual Taxes and Social Transfers. *Financial Theory and Practice*, *32*(3), 387-403. Retrieved from https://hrcak.srce.hr/file/55192
- Van Parijs, P. (2004, March). Basic Income: A simple and powerful idea for the twenty-first century. *Politics & Society*, 32(1), 7-38. Retrieved from https://cdn.uclouvain.be/public/Exports%20reddot/etes/documents/Chap1.Simple_and_P owerful.pdf
- Van Parijs, P. (1992, April). Basic Income Capitalism. *The University of Chicago Press, 102*(3), 465-486. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/2381835
- Yle News. (2018, January 30). One year down, one to go: A view on Finland's basic income experiment [Video file]. Retrieved from https://areena.yle.fi/1-4348029

8. Appendices



Appendix A. Gini coefficient in OECD countries (2016)

Sources: Data taken from the OECD database (OECD, n.d.a), graph made by authors Note: The graph displays disposable income inequality (post taxes and transfers). 0 represents perfect equality while 1 marks perfect inequality. The OECD member with the highest inequality is Mexico but the leader for equality is the Slovak Republic. Gini coefficient for Latvia is 0.346, compared to the OECD's average of 0.315. Costa Rica and South Africa are added to the table as the candidates for OECD; however, are not considered when ranking Latvia in terms of income inequality. Gini coefficient is usually calculated using the Lorenz curve which represents the cumulative share of income respective to the fraction of population from poorest to the richest.



Appendix B. The rate of poverty in OECD countries (2016)

Sources: Data taken from the OECD database (OECD, n.d.b), graph made by authors. Note: The graph displays the total rate of poverty, as well as for different age groups - children and old-age-pensioners. Percentage of poverty rate represents the fraction of citizen's falling under the threshold of poverty risk, varying by country. The OECD member with the highest rate of poverty is the United States, but the leader with the least risk of poverty is Iceland. The total rate of poverty in Latvia is 16.8%, compared to OECD's average of 12.3%. The poverty rate for pensioners in Latvia is 32.7% - 3rd highest in OECD, but the child poverty of 13.2% is below the OECD average. Costa Rica and South Africa are added to the table as the candidates for OECD; however, are not considered when ranking Latvia in terms of poverty.

Appendix C. Effectiveness analysis of UBI scenarios after fiscal neutrality

On average, the Gini coefficient of scenarios after the required tax increase decreases by 7.85 pp, which is by 3 pp more than before tax increase. In scenario 5, the Gini coefficient even decreased more than 2 times, scoring 0.169, while the smallest decrease was for Scenario 20, scoring 0.319. The same scenarios without tax increase meanwhile scored 0.247 and 0.325. In 5 scenarios, namely 2, 4, 5, 6, and 18, the tax reform managed to decrease income inequality even before giving out UBI. Gini coefficient after only taxes and pensions decreased by 0.026 the highest in scenario 6. However, the others are not necessarily the scenarios which experienced the highest tax increase. The main condition for this effect is that UBI is not taxed.

More detailed impact on income inequality is also represented by income deciles. While the average income of the whole population remains the same due to budget neutrality, the additional income of the poorest part of the population has to be compensated by the richest part (see figure C.1). In particular, three upper deciles experience losses in all 24 scenarios, 3%, 9%, and 17% respectively. Compared to decile 10 (monthly loss of 321 euros on average), decile 1 gains only 134.45 monthly euros; however, that constitutes 74% of their previous income, 16 pp lower than in non-budget-neutral scenarios. The loss of income, relative to the state prior to the new tax policy, increases slightly for each decile, resulting in 26 pp lower income for decile 10.





Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Another evidence of higher equality is S80/S20 ratio, which decreased by 2.1, and shows that, in our budget-neutral simulation, the richest 20% earn on average by 4 times more than poorest 20%. The leader in this case as well is scenario 5 that decreased S80/S20 ratio by 3.7, while scenario 20 decreased it by 0.9 only.

Tax policy impact on poverty rates presents a different overview. While the general tendency remains the same and UBI indeed decreases poverty, the effect is smaller than before tax increase (see figure C.2). The poverty level dropped to 13.9% on average, compared to 11.23% when running a budget deficit. The main losers from the tax reform are elderly people whose poverty rate was reduced only by 4.4 pp and is by 6.5 pp higher than without tax reform. In scenarios 7 and 20, the poverty rate of elderly people is even higher than in the baseline scenario by 0.56 pp and 0.22 pp respectively. Other age groups are affected more strongly, with children being the most affected (9.7 pp poverty reduction) and working-age class the second (9.4 pp of overall poverty reduction and 6.4 pp for economically active workers).





Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Note: Poverty rate or risk of poverty reflects the proportion of the population whose disposable income does not reach over the poverty line which is defined as 60% of the country-specific median disposable household income for one member, in our case, 367.58 euros a month.

The same scenarios 5 and 20 as for inequality set the boundaries also for poverty, positioning other scenarios in between 5.9% and 20.3% as the rate of overall poverty. The most effective scenarios 5 and 17 both reduce poverty by 16.5 pp. Nevertheless, scenario 17 demands

lower tax increase and addresses the poverty of elderly people more effectively, reducing it by 18.4 pp. None of the scenarios managed to eradicate poverty completely for any of the age groups as it was the case before tax increase. However, 5 scenarios (5, 6, 11, 17, and 18) pushed overall poverty below 10%, out of which all gave the highest amount of UBI and 4 did not tax UBI.

Figures C.3 and C.4 combine income inequality and poverty, indicating the 5 most effective scenarios from the perspective of all 3 criteria: Gini coefficient, S80/S20 index, and risk of poverty. Starting from the most effective, those are scenarios 5, 17, 6, 18, and 11 which are also among the scenarios that required the biggest tax increase. Benefit retention and UBI for pensioners in general increase the effectiveness, the role of these conditions, however, were minor. Rather effective are also scenarios 23, 12, 3, 24, and 4, of which only 3 and 4 give the second level of UBI amounting to 193 EUR. From the results, we can also derive that scenarios which are the most positively affected by tax increase are 6 and 18. After tax increase, these scenarios experience the highest decrease in Gini coefficient by 0.082 and 0.076 and S80/S20 index by 1.66 and 1.58 respectively. The scenarios are also among the ones whose rate of poverty increase only marginally by 1.2 pp and 1.0 pp respectively, while other most effective scenarios experience huge increase, 6.1 pp being the maximum (Scenario 23). Both of these scenarios give the highest level of UBI, exclude pensioners of the model, and do not tax UBI.

Meanwhile, also the 5 least effective are the same according to all three criteria: 20, 19, 22, 21, and 14 starting from the least effective. The tax increase demanded by the scenarios is no higher than 31%, which makes them also among the relatively cheapest. All 5 scenarios abolish the existing benefit system and 4 of them tax UBI. Moreover, only two lowest UBI levels are represented among the least effective scenarios.



Figure C.3. The effectiveness of 24 UBI scenarios after tax increase by Gini coefficient and rate of poverty

Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Note: Each dot on the plot represents a scenario. The rate of poverty or risk of poverty reflects the proportion of the population whose disposable income does not reach over the poverty line which is defined as 60% of the country-specific median disposable household income for one member, in our case, 367.58 euros a month.





Sources: EUROMOD, authors' calculations.

Note: Each dot on the plot represents a scenario. The rate of poverty or risk of poverty reflects the proportion of the population whose disposable income does not reach over the poverty line which is defined as 60% of the country-specific median disposable household income for one member, in our case, 367.58 euros a month.